1958

Paul Ernest Jopes v. Salt Lake County et al : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Plaintiff Paul E. Jopes commenced this suit to recover damages for personal injuries sustained in an accident which occurred at the Meadow Brook Golf Course in Salt Lake County, Utah. The case was tried before the Hon-

orable Martin M. Larson sitting with a jury. At the close of the evidence each of the defendants moved the court for a directed verdict. The court granted each of said motions causing the action to be dismissed, and later denied plaintiff's motion for a new trial. This appeal is taken from the orders of the court granting defendants' motions and denying plaintiff's motion for a new trial.

Because on an appeal of this type the evidence must be viewed by the appellate court in light most favorable to the plaintiff, we will state as fact those matters supported by competent credible evidence without regard to any dispute which may exist as to some of said facts. "R" refers to pages of the Record on Appeal.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

The plaintiff is a professional golfer. On the 27th day of August, 1955, he was injured when he fell over a concrete obstruction in a narrow dimly lit hallway in the clubhouse on Meadow Brook Golf Course.

Meadow Brook Golf Course is owned and operated by Salt Lake County through its Recreation Board. The course is operated precisely the same as any private course in the city. Golfers are charged admission fees for the privilege of playing the course (R. 80, 255). Lockers are rented for a fee (R. 80, 259). Golf clubs, balls, tees, carts and accessories are sold at competitive prices (R. 259). Golf lessons are given for a consideration at "rates comparable with rates charged at other public golf courses in this area" (Ex. 24-P-Pg. 2, R. 255, 256). On the course is located a clubhouse

building. In a portion of the clubhouse is located the rental lockers. In another portion is located the golf shop concession where golf supplies are sold. Still another portion of the clubhouse is leased out as a restaurant. The restaurant is operated by the lessee as a commercial enterprise for profit (R. 246, Exhibit 25-P).

The golf course is managed by the defendant Joseph Michael Riley under a contract with the Salt Lake County Recreation Board (Ex. 24-P). Under said contract Riley is employed as a "Golf Professional, Instructor and Manager" for the course. He is paid a salary of \$3,600.00, receives a home and all utilities free of charge, and has the exclusive right and franchise to the following concessions at the course: "(a) sale or rent at reasonable charges all balls, clubs, golf carts, bags and/or golf accessories of any type, nature or description whatsoever; (b) the storage and/or repair, cleaning or club making of any and all golf clubs or accessories; (c) the exclusive group, class or individual instruction in golf at rates comparable with rates charged at other public golf courses in this area * * *" (Ex. 24-P). The contract of employment further provides, inter alia, for the promotion and holding on the course of "one men's open or amateur golf tournaments each year." Riley is charged with "promotion of instruction and to supervise, operate, improve and maintain the golf course." The contract also enjoins upon Riley the duty to "maintain and operate at reasonable prices a first-class golf shop" and to "have on hand during all playing seasons an adequate supply and variety of golf balls, clubs, tees, golf carts and other commonly used accessories for sale or rent."

The dining room of the clubhouse is leased to Mrs. Jessie Smith (Exhibit 25-P) under an instrument which provides for the rental of the following premises and equipment:

“The dining room, fountain and kitchen in the Clubhouse at the Meadow Brook Golf Course, in Salt Lake County, Utah, together with all furniture, fixtures, equipment, cooking utensils, hardware, glassware, and other personal property now located in said premises, all of which items are listed on the inventory hereto attached and marked Exhibit ‘A’.”

Said lease provides for a rental of “five per cent of the gross receipts [of the lessee] derived each month * * * from the operation of the said premises.” The lessor retains the right to modify the percentage of the gross receipts to be charged as rental. Rental is payable monthly with a ten day grace period. The use of the premises under said lease is defined as follows:

“* * * [S]aid premises shall be occupied and used exclusively for the operation of a restaurant and for the sale of food, ice cream, soda, soft drinks, beer, candies, tobaccos and other confections.”

The lessee has the right under said lease to serve any place on the golf course.

The county derives income from the operation of the course in substantial amounts. In 1954 it received \$29,066.75. In 1955 \$30,579.75 was collected and in 1956 the course brought in \$38,696.62 (R. 80). The expenses of operation are discussed infra.

Based on the rentals paid to the county it appears that the restaurant leased to Mrs. Smith brought in \$30,260.00, \$44,102.00 and \$47,642.40 for the years 1954, 1955 and 1956 respectively, netting the county five per cent of said amounts (R. 80).

At the time of plaintiff's injury the Utah Open Golf Championship was being held at the Meadow Brook Golf Course. This tournament was co-sponsored by the defendants Meadow Brook Golf Club and Salt Lake Junior Chamber of Commerce. The Utah Golf Association had "awarded" the tournament to Meadow Brook which undertook the holding of the tournament (R. 263). The use of the course for the holding of the tournament at Meadow Brook was actually considered to be an obligation on the Recreation Board as the owner of a course (R. 257, 261). Speaking of the attitude of the Recreation Board and himself towards the tournament at Meadow Brook, Riley said:

"* * * because of our obligation to golf as a whole * * * the picture of golf * * * and they feel the same as I do that, each club should take a turn at putting this tournament over to stimulate and boost playing of golf; * * *" (R. 257).

The tournament at first was to be sponsored by the defendant Meadow Brook Golf Club (R. 233). The Salt Lake Jaycees, however, offered to co-sponsor the tournament for one-half of the profits (R. 233, 235). Income in the amount of \$10,655.10 was derived from the holding of the tournament (R. 76). The income was received and expenses paid by the co-sponsors. The profits were divided

equally between Meadow Brook Golf Club and the Salt Lake Jaycees (R. 80, 235). Each netted about \$900.00 profit (R. 74, 296, 311).

The general planning and management of the tournament was under the charge of the general committee composed of Carman Kipp of the Jaycees; Jack Gilbert of Meadow Brook and Riley (R. 234, 286). About Riley's place on the committee and the attitude of the two co-sponsors toward him, he said:

“They were using me of my knowledge and experience in running open tournaments” (R. 236).

The general committee in turn selected subcommittees such as publicity, finance and social (R. 236, 237).

A number of so-called “sponsors” (not to be confused with the co-sponsors of the tournament) were contacted each of whom paid \$25.00 in exchange for having his or its name printed in the program (R. 287). Policies of the tournament were formed by Kipp, Gilbert and Riley on the general committee and the subcommittees worked under their supervision to accomplish the work of the tournament (R. 234, 236, 237). Programs were prepared, scoreboards erected, signs constructed and the greens put in readiness for the play of the tournament. Invitations were sent out to professional and amateur golfers. The plaintiff received a written invitation and also a personal invitation from Riley to enter and participate in the tournament (R. 114, 245). All participants (including plaintiff) were required to pay an admission fee of \$10.00 to play in the open tournament (R. 115, 245). The public was invited to view the

tournament but was admitted only upon the purchase of spectators tickets (R. 245). Participants and spectators alike were allowed full use of the golf clubhouse facilities (R. 242). The golf shop, rest rooms, and locker rooms were, of course, an essential element of the facilities for the holding of the tournament. The dining room was used for certain activities of the tournament (including a "Calcutta" and dinner) and the restaurant was patronized by both golfer and spectator (R. 246).

Mr. Jopes was injured in a narrow hallway of the clubhouse which connects the restaurant with the golf shop and locker rooms (See Exhibit 1-P). This passageway is approximately 18 feet in length, four feet in width and runs in a north-south direction. At the time of the accident there was no artificial light fixture in the passage to furnish artificial light (R. 120). The east wall of the passage was one of the exterior walls of the building and was constructed of glass block so as to permit the passage of natural light into the hallway. Said glass block was laid on a concrete foundation approximately 18 inches high. At the north end of the hallway a concrete obstruction about 18 inches in height protrudes into the traveled portion of the hallway one foot or more. The width of the hallway from the outer edge of this obstruction to the west edge of the hallway is about two feet ten inches (Ex. 1-P). There is a considerable amount of traffic in the hallway and people frequently pass each other therein. Before the commencement of the tournament Riley, one of the members of the general committee, caused a large scoreboard to be constructed and placed on the outside of the east wall of the passage com-

pletely covering the glass block on said wall (Ex. 1-P). This scoreboard which was attached directly to the glass block prevented the passage of natural light through said glass block and into the hallway.

The accident occurred about 3:00 p. m. on the 27th day of August, 1955 (R. 116). At the time of the accident plaintiff had completed a round of golf and had gone into the golf shop to secure change in order to pay his caddy. There was no change in the golf shop so he went into the restaurant where he purchased a paper cup of beer and secured change for a \$20.00 bill. The accident occurred on his return from the restaurant to the golf shop. After Jopes left the restaurant, he started down the hallway walking north. When he had reached about the middle of the hall two men came out of the locker room at the north end of the passage and walked south toward him. In order to pass them in the hallway Jopes walked to the east side of the passage. As he came to the north end of the passage his foot struck the concrete obstruction throwing him violently forward and causing his shoulder to strike a 4x4 post at the north end of the hall. This blow resulted in the severe injuries suffered by plaintiff. These injuries necessitated surgery and pinning of the shoulder and resulted in a permanent partial disability at the shoulder joint.

Plaintiff's witnesses testified that it was difficult to see in the hallway and that below the concrete foundation where the obstruction was located it was "very dark" (R. 123, 277, 278). These witnesses though looking down the hallway were unable to see the obstruction with the light conditions as they were (R. 123, 278). There was evidence

that at least two persons had tripped over the obstruction before plaintiff's accident (R. 277, 278). Plaintiff had passed through the hallway before but had not noticed the obstruction—probably because of the light conditions and because he had not been forced to walk on the east side of the passage by other traffic. There were no signs or other warnings whatever giving the traveler notice of the obstruction in the hallway.

Although the absence of any artificial light in the hallway and the presence of the concrete obstruction contributed considerably to the hazard, perhaps the greatest single affirmative act contributing thereto was the construction and erection of a scoreboard covering all of the glass portion of the east wall of said passage. It is clear that the scoreboard was constructed and erected for the sole purpose of the Utah Open Golf Tournament. On this point Riley said:

(R. 260)

“Q. Now, who made the scoreboard?

“A. I had it made for the express purpose of using in the Utah Open Tournament, and it was made for me by the County Recreation Maintenance Department.”

The board was erected about two weeks before the tournament (R. 242, 243). Although actual erection of the board was made by county employees, it is clear that its placement was taken up by Riley with the other two members of the general committee as one of the items of business of the tournament (R. 243, 244, 309). Kipp did not remember this, but Gilbert did (R. 309). Gilbert remembers

a discussion as to the placement of the sign in some place out of the wind. (Ibid.) As a matter of fact Riley testified that the matter was even taken up with the general committee after it had been placed (R. 244). Riley's suggestion for placement of the board and his act in having it placed where it was brings to mind his statement that:

(R. 236)

"They [The Golf Club and the Jaycees] were using me of my knowledge and experience in running open tournaments."

It is clear that both Gilbert and Kipp of the general committee knew where the board was placed and made no objections to its placement (R. 269, 310). It is also clear that these men as well as numerous other Jaycees and members of the Golf Club knew of the light conditions in the hallway following the erection of the scoreboard.

At the close of the evidence the trial court refused to allow the case to go to the jury. The question now before this court is whether under any view of the facts the plaintiff could recover against any one or more of the defendants. If so, he is entitled to a new trial. "Plaintiff is entitled to have the trial court, and this court on review, consider all of the evidence which plaintiff is able to present and every inference and intendment therefrom in the light most favorable to him." *Abdulkadir v. The Western Pacific Railroad Company*, (Utah, 1957), 318 P. 2d 339; *Morris v. Farnsworth Motel*, (Utah, 1953), 259 P. 2d 297. We think that the plaintiff was entitled to go to the jury on the issue of liability as to each of the defendants. The following pages will demonstrate this.

STATEMENT OF POINTS RELIED ON

POINT I.

THE COURT ERRED IN DISMISSING THE COMPLAINT AS TO THE DEFENDANT SALT LAKE COUNTY.

- (1) *The Maintenance and Operation of Meadow Brook Golf Course is a Proprietary Function To Which the Doctrine of Governmental Immunity Does Not Extend.*
- (2) *Salt Lake County in Leasing Premises For a Restaurant Was Acting in a Proprietary Capacity and is Charged with the Same Liability in Said Operation as Any Private Landlord Would Be.*
- (3) *There is Ample Evidence From Which the Jury Could Have Found That Salt Lake County Was Guilty of Negligence Which Proximately Contributed to Plaintiff's Injuries.*
- (4) *The Evidence Does Not Compel a Conclusion That Plaintiff Was Guilty of Contributory Negligence as a Matter of Law.*

POINT II.

THE COURT ERRED IN DISMISSING THE COMPLAINT AS TO THE DEFENDANT JOSEPH MICHAEL RILEY.

POINT III.

THE COURT ERRED IN DISMISSING THE COMPLAINT AS TO THE DEFENDANT MEADOW BROOK GOLF CLUB.

POINT IV.

THE COURT ERRED IN DISMISSING THE COMPLAINT AS TO THE DEFENDANT JUNIOR CHAMBER OF COMMERCE.

ARGUMENT

POINT I.

THE COURT ERRED IN DISMISSING THE COMPLAINT AS TO THE DEFENDANT SALT LAKE COUNTY.

- (1) *The Maintenance and Operation of Meadow Brook Golf Course is a Proprietary Function To Which the Doctrine of Governmental Immunity Does Not Extend.*

We have already stated that Meadow Brook Golf Course is owned and operated by Salt Lake County through its Recreation Board. The course is operated precisely the same as any private course in the city. Golfers are charged "green fees" for the privilege of playing the course. Lockers are rented for a fee. Golf clubs, balls, tees, carts and accessories are sold in the golf shop. The clubhouse located on the premises is devoted almost exclusively to commercial

concessions and enterprises. A portion of said clubhouse contains lockers which are rented to golfers. In another portion is located the golf shop concession where golf supplies are sold as a profit making or business undertaking. Still another part of the clubhouse is leased by the county as a restaurant. The restaurant, as the golf shop, is operated by the lessee as any other commercial restaurant. In 1954 the county deposited in its treasury as revenue derived from the operation of the course the sum of \$29,066.75. In 1955 this revenue was increased to the sum of \$30,579.75, and in 1956 the sum of \$38,696.62 was taken in by the county (R. 80). The expenses incurred in operating the course amounted to \$50,309.11 in 1956, and were about the same in 1954 and 1955 (R. 80, 81).

We think the conclusion of the trial court that the county in operating Meadow Brook Golf Course is acting in a proprietary capacity is wholly unsupported in fact and law. Statutes pertinent to the suit against the county are §17-15-10, U. C. A., 1953, (providing that a county may sue or be sued), §11-2-3 (authorizing county to act through recreation board), §11-2-1, U. C. A., 1953, (authorizing maintenance of facilities such as golf courses). The expenses of the operation are paid by the county (R. 80, See §11-2-7, U. C. A., 1953) and the revenue derived is deposited in the county treasury (R. 80, 255).

The principal of sovereign immunity is a common law doctrine which insulates municipalities and agencies of the government from liability in tort while engaged in the performance of governmental functions. From the very inception of the doctrine it has been recognized that immunity

does not extend to activities performed by the sovereign which are private or proprietary in nature.

The distinction between proprietary and governmental functions is most commonly discussed in connection with suits against a city or municipality. However, the proposition that a county as well as a city may act in a private or proprietary capacity and is liable for its torts when so acting is firmly established in this country. The case law on this subject is collected in annotations at 101 A. L. R. 1166 and 16 A. L. R. 2d 1079 (See also A. L. R. 2d Supplement Service). It appears from these cases that the question has been before the appellate courts in at least twenty different jurisdictions. With the exception of some Texas decisions and Georgia (where a statute controls), all of the other decisions referred to in the above annotations (or later decisions of the same court) have rejected the contention that the powers of a county are purely governmental and recognized that counties, as cities, may act in a private as well as a public capacity and that when so acting the county has no immunity from suit. The western states of California, Idaho, Nevada and Montana have all recognized this principal of law. A lengthy analysis of the cases is set forth in *Granite Oil Securities v. Douglas County*, 67 Nev. 388, 219 P. 2d 191, where it was concluded as follows:

“While it is said that the doctrine holding counties, liable for torts committed in the exercise of proprietary functions has been of much later development than a similar doctrine for municipalities, we find that doctrine clearly expressed in the early case of *Hannon v. County of St. Louis*, 62 Mo. 313,

decided in 1876 * * * We cite these as among the early cases. *Later cases are overwhelmingly in support of the liability of counties for tort when acting in their proprietary capacity. (Citing cases.)*”

See also the following cases :

Coburn v. San Mateo County, 75 Fed. 520; *Jones v. Jefferson County*, 206 Ala. 13, 89 So. 174; *Peterson v. Bannock County*, 61 Idaho 419, 102 P. 2d 647; *Johnson v. Billings*, 101 Mont. 462, 54 P. 2d 579; *Calkins v. Newton*, 36 Cal. App. 2d 262, 97 P. 2d 523.

Although this Court has not directly passed upon the question it is evident from the case of *Lund v. Salt Lake County*, 58 Utah 546, 200 Pac. 510, that the Court recognizes the almost universal rule of county tort liability. In that case, though holding that the county was not liable because its act in maintaining a private water system and furnishing water for hire was without statutory authority and hence “ultra vires,” the court said :

“* * * If they were authorized to engage in such business, as was Salt Lake City in the *Brown* case, cited by plaintiff, we see no objection to applying the common law doctrine of respondeat superior and holding the municipality liable. * * *”

It should be noted at this point that the instant case is not a situation involving an “ultra vires” act as was the case in *Lund v. Salt Lake County*, supra. The legislature has authorized the county to operate and maintain facilities such as golf courses (§ 11-2-1, 3 U. C. A., 1953) just as the city was authorized to maintain and operate swimming

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