1958

Paul Ernest Jopes v. Salt Lake County et al : Brief of Respondents Salt Lake County and Joseph Michael Riley

Utah Supreme Court

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

ARGUMENT

We recognize of course, that on this appeal the evidence, and all reasonable inferences therefrom, must be viewed in the light most favorable to the plaintiff. However, there is a presumption in favor of the regularity and validity of all proceedings in the court below. The motions for directed verdict, were based upon multiple grounds. If these respondents are correct on any one of their points, the judgment below should be affirmed. We shall undertake to demonstrate that respondents were correct in each and all of their points.

POINT I.

SALT LAKE COUNTY IS AN ARM OF THE STATE AND AS SUCH IS VESTED WITH SOVEREIGN IMMUNITY, AND, IN THE ABSENCE OF PERMISSIVE LEGISLATION, CANNOT BE SUED IN TORT FOR NEGLIGENCE.

Without even taking the trouble to examine the constitutional differences between Counties on the one hand, and cities and towns on the other, and without even a passing reference to Utah decisions dealing with the doctrine of sovereign immunity, as applied to Counties, appellant would summarily tear away the distinction which has heretofore existed, and place counties in

the same category as cities, and other municipal corporations, as regards the doctrine of sovereign immunity. Although appellant has quoted copiously from the decisions of other jurisdictions in an effort to persuade this court to put aside its well established rule, he has ignored the Utah precedents on this very subject. Before so lightly setting aside a rule so long and well established, we believe it appropriate to examine into its origin, and the validity of the bases upon which it rests. A helpful basic discussion appears in 14 Am. Jur., commencing at page 215, Counties, Secs. 48 and 49. We quote the more illuminating portions:

“Sec. 48. Generally.—It is well settled that since counties are organized for public purposes and charged with the performance of duties as arms or branches of the state government, they are never to be held liable in a private action for neglect to perform such duties, for acts done while engaged in the performance of such duties, or because they are not performed in a manner most conducive to the safety of employees or the public, unless such liability is expressly fixed by statute. The fact that counties are declared by statute to be municipal corporations does not change the rule in the absence of anything in the statute imposing any additional liability. Moreover, no new liability for torts is imposed upon a county by state making it a municipal corporation for exercising the powers and discharging the duties of local government and administering public affairs, and providing that actions for damages for any injury to property or rights for which it is liable shall be in the name of the county. * * *

“Sec. 49. Reason for Rule of Nonliability.—The principal ground upon which it is held that counties are not liable for damages in actions for their neglect of public duty is that they are involuntary political divisions of the state, created for public purposes connected with the administration of local government. They are involuntary corporations, because created by the state, without the solicitation or even the consent of the people within their boundaries, and made depositaries of limited political and governmental functions, to be exercised for the public good, in behalf of the state, and not for themselves. They are in fact no less than public agencies of the state, invested by it with their particular powers, but no power to decline the functions devolved upon them, and hence, are clothed with the same immunity from liability as the state itself. In other words, the rule of nonliability for torts is dictated by public policy. Since a suit against the County is in effect, a suit against the state, an action will not lie without the consent of the legislature.”

See also the discussion in 38 Am. Jur., commencing at page 260, Municipal Corporations, Sec. 571, et seq.:

“Sec. 571. Generally—It was well settled at common law that a mere territorial subdivision, such as a county or a hundred, was not liable for the negligence of its officers. Such a body, while it in a certain sense constituted a legal entity, was not considered a municipal corporation. * * *

“In this country, all territorial subdivisions created by the state and having the power to assess and collect taxes are so far quasi corporations as to be liable to be sued, but a mere territorial subdivision such as a county, township,

or district performing only governmental functions and having no right of self government or private or proprietary interest is not ordinarily liable to actions of tort, in the absence of statutory provision. * * *

“Sec. 573. — Basis and History. — Following the decision in *Russell v. Devon County*, it became a settled principle of the common law that an individual could not maintain an action against a political subdivision of the state for injury resulting from negligence in the performance of any governmental function. The municipality was but a hand of the sovereign, and it was the ‘right divine of kings to govern wrong.’ This principle today is but a rudimentary survival of the maxim ‘The King can do no wrong,’ and immunity is still based on the theory that the sovereign cannot be sued without its consent, and that a designated agency of the Sovereign is likewise immune. The reason frequently assigned in the earlier cases was that the principle which holds that it is better for the individual to suffer than the public to be inconvenienced is stronger than the conflicting principle that for every injury the law gives a remedy. The later cases more often support the rule of governmental immunity on the ground of a public policy which seeks to prevent public funds and public property from being diverted from public uses and applied to the liquidation of private damages. Some cases likewise reason that it would be against public policy to retard and stifle gratuitous governmental activities vitally necessary to the public health and welfare of the population of expanding urban centers by subjecting municipal corporations to tort liability as to *parks, playgrounds, etc.*” (Emphasis ours.)

In this state, counties are established by constitutional fiat. Article XI, Sec. I, of the State Constitution provides as follows:

“The several counties of the Territory of Utah, existing at the time of the adoption of this Constitution, are hereby recognized *as legal subdivisions of this State*, and the precincts, and school districts, now existing in said counties, as legal subdivisions thereof, and they shall so continue until changed by law in pursuance of this article.” (Emphasis ours.)

A relatively early Utah case, *Lowry v. Carbon County*, (Ut.), 232 Pac. 909, considered the problem here involved, and set it at rest until the present time. This court there said:

“First, does the complaint state facts sufficient to constitute a cause of action against Carbon County? We are clearly of the opinion that it does not, and that as to the defendant Carbon County, the trial court properly sustained the general demurrer. The law relating to the liability of counties, under circumstances present in this case, is so clearly stated in 7 R.C.L. at pages 954 and 957, that no further citation of authority is either advisable or necessary at this time.

“While a municipal corporation is liable to an individual in certain cases for a failure to discharge its corporate duties upon the ground that its powers have been granted at the special solicitation, and for the benefit of its citizens, and not so much to aid in the administration of the state government as for the local advantages and convenience, still the law is well settled that *counties being organized for public purposes, and charged with the performance of duties as an arm*

or branch of the state government, are never to be held liable in a private action for neglect to perform a corporate duty, or for acts done while engaged in the performance of such duties, or because they are not performed in a manner most conducive to the safety of its employees or the public, *unless such liability is expressly fixed by statute*. The rule is dictated by public policy, and the fact that counties are declared by statute to be municipal corporations does not change it in the absence of anything in the statute imposing any additional liability. The principal ground upon which it is held that counties are not liable for damages in actions for their neglect of public duty is that they are involuntary political divisions of the state, created for governmental purposes, and are organized without regard to the consent or dissent of the inhabitants. The theory upon which municipal corporations proper are held liable in such cases is that they are voluntary associations, created and organized at the solicitation of, and with the free consent of, the inhabitants, under the laws of the state, and that the benefits accruing to the people by such incorporation compensate them for the liability. Another reason is that, *since a county is but a political subdivision of the state, a suit against the county is, in effect, a suit against the state, and that therefore an action will not lie without consent of the Legislature.* * * *

“It is a general and well-established rule that counties are not liable at common law for injuries resulting from the negligence of their officers or agents. And when the law itself imposes a duty upon the board of county commissioners as such, and they are not appointed thereto by the county, the county will not be responsible for their breach of duty or for their non-

feasance or misfeasance in relation to such duty.' ” (Emphasis ours.)

In the more recent case of *Bingham v. Board of Education of Ogden City*, (Ut.), 223 Pac. (2d) 432, which involved a school district, rather than a county, this court followed the same reasoning:

“The general law of this jurisdiction, as in most other jurisdictions, does not authorize actions for damages for personal injuries against school districts. School districts are corporations with limited powers, and act merely on behalf of the state in discharging the duty of the educating the children of school age in the public schools created by general laws.

* * *

“Since many of the cases relied on by plaintiffs deal with the liability of municipal corporations, we point out that the authorities seem to make a distinction between municipal corporations and what are termed ‘quasi-municipal’ corporations. This distinction is better understood when consideration is given to the fact that school boards are created exclusively for school purposes and are mere agencies of the state established for the sole purpose of administering a system of public education for which they receive no private or corporate benefit; and that, as to tort liability, such agencies or authorities occupy a status different from that of municipal corporations which ordinarily have a dual character and which may exercise proprietary as well as governmental functions. McQuillin on Municipal Corporations, explains the distinctions as follows (Sec. 2775, 2d Ed.):

“* * * It is pertinent to state here that there is a distinction between municipal corporations

proper and quasi-municipal corporations concerning liability for torts, and that the general rule is that the latter is not liable for torts unless allowed by statute. * * *

“The immunity from liability of quasi-public corporations is generally placed upon the ground of their involuntary and public character. They are usually treated as public or state agencies, and their duties are ordinarily wholly governmental. They exercise the greater part of their functions as agencies of the state merely, and are created for purposes of public policy, and hence the general rule that they are not responsible for the neglect of duties enjoined on them, unless the action is given by statute. On the other hand, it is recognized that the municipal corporation proper has functions which are performed by it not as a mere agent of the state, but in its capacity as a corporation serving alone the local inhabitants. If the city should be regarded as a state agency at all times, which is frequently asserted without qualification by courts, there would exist no logical ground for holding it liable for damages due to negligence, since in no instance is a state held liable under the general principles of law.’

“The Supreme Court of Iowa, in the case of *Snethen v. Harrison County*, 172 Iowa 81, 152 N.W. 12, 13, refused to declare a county liable for negligence in the performance of its governmental functions. There the court based its reasoning on the distinction between the involuntary and voluntary nature of political and territorial divisions of the state, and said: ‘Counties, unlike cities and incorporated towns, are not, as a rule, held liable for torts committed by them, so long as they are acting within the scope of their governmental powers. They are quasi municipal cor-

porations engaged in the performance of governmental functions and are not responsible for the neglect of duties enjoined upon them, in the absence of a statute giving a right of action.’”

This court also quoted with approval from a Tennessee case, *Odil v. Maury County*, 175 Tenn. 550, 136 S.W. 2d, 500, also involving a public playground or recreation place, as follows:

“ ‘In the present case the county was acting within its delegated power when it constructed this school building; and even if it be conceded that the opening into which plaintiff fell constituted a nuisance, a question unnecessary for this court to determine, the defendant is no more liable than was the county in *Tyler v. Obion County, et al.* (171 Tenn. 550, 106 S.W. 2d 548) *supra*, where the county committed a nuisance by dumping six or seven large piles of gravel or rock in the middle of the road and left them there overnight.’”

The principle was reaffirmed in the case of *Shaw vs. Salt Lake County*, (Ut.), 224 Pac. (2d) 1037, where this court said:

“This court has recognized that counties as quasi-municipal corporations *partake of the sovereign immunity of the State, as an arm of the state*. In this respect they are similar to school districts. See *Bingham v. Board of Education of Ogden City*, (Ut.), 223 P. 2d 432.” (Emphasis ours.)

Apparently the only Utah authority cited by appellant is the early case of *Lund v. Salt Lake County*, 58 Ut. 596, 200 Pac. 510. In that case plaintiff sought re-

covery against defendant for causing or permitting contaminated waters to flow into his fish ponds, destroying his fish. Plaintiff proceeded on three theories: (1) Eminent domain; (2) Nuisance; and (3) Negligence. After rejecting the first two theories as unsound, the court rejected the third theory on the grounds that the county was engaged in an *ultra vires* act, and therefore not liable for the torts of its agents and employees. During the course of its discussion, it indicated, by way of *dicta*, that the doctrine of respondeat superior, would apply if the act were not *ultra vires* and if the county were a municipal corporation. What was there said was *obiter dicta* wholly unnecessary to the decision. Such reasoning has since been clearly, specifically, and unequivocally rejected by the later Utah decisions above cited and quoted by us.

In view of the firmly established Utah law, it appears unnecessary to look to the decisions of sister states for assistance on this point. However, appellant has represented that the trend of authority is toward holding counties liable in tort for damages for personal injury. Lest this court draw the unwarranted inference that it stands alone on this point, we call attention to the following recent cases from other western jurisdictions, as illustrative, but by no means exhaustive, of the many authorities adhering to the same doctrine as Utah:

In *Hazlett vs. Board of County Comm'rs of Muskogee County, Okl.* (Okl.), 32 Pac. (2d) 940, the court said:

"It is well settled in this state that counties and townships are merely quasi-municipal corporations charged by law with certain governmental and administrative functions as state agencies, and as such are not liable in damages for the negligence of the Board of County Commissioners or township officers, or those they are obliged to employ in carrying on such functions."

In *Board of Comm'rs of Harmon County vs. Keen*, (Okl.), 153 Pac. (2d) 483, the same court said:

"We are committed to the rule that in the absence of an express statute creating a liability therefor, a county is not liable in a civil action for damages for injuries resulting from negligent acts or omissions of its officers or those it is obliged to employ in the performance of their duties as such officers or employees."

To the same effect see *Keesee v. Board of County Comm'rs of Kiowa County*, (Kan.), 281 Pac. (2d) 1089.

Although California is represented by appellant as adhering to the opposite rule, it does so only by express statute known as the Public Liability Act. So much is manifest from a reading of appellant's own authority on the subject, *Dineen v. City and County of San Francisco*, (Cal. App.), 101 P. (2d) 736:

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